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November 19, 2012

Mr. Boone Hellmann	
Campus Architect
University of California, San Diego
Facilities Design & Construction
Dept. 0916
9500 Gilman Drive
La Jolla , CA 92093-0916


Subject:  Peer Review of Reports on the Crafts Center, UCSD


Dear Mr. Hellmann

As you requested I have made a peer review of the reports on the Crafts Center at the University of California Campus, San Diego.  The scope of this review consisted of the following tasks:

Review the prior reports, especially the report by Cottrell Engineering, dated October 28, 2012
Observe the buildings that comprise the Crafts Center with the assistance of Joe Arcia on November 16, 2012.
Review of some architectural/structural drawings.
Provide comments on the Cottrell report.
Provide summary and recommendations.

The Crafts Center is a complex of one-story, wood-framed buildings and structures which were built on the UCSD campus between 1971 and 1988.  The original construction appears to have started with the relocation of four existing buildings  (12’x16’ and 12’x20’).  The buildings were placed on pier foundations and interconnected with new-wood framed construction.  Since the original construction, additional buildings were added and areas between buildings were covered with wood roofs.  

The Cottrell Report is, in general, correct regarding the structural deficiencies of the various areas of the Crafts Center.  None of the areas appear in conformance with current building code seismic requirements and most show signs of deterioration due to water  or contact with soil.  My observations add a few additional comments that should be noted:

There is a lack of ties between building areas which could result in roof areas pulling loose if significant differential movement between areas occurred in an earthquake.
Area 11 is a light framed roof added between buildings with no seismic resisting system.
There is a mildew smell in the building (it had been closed up when observed) which could indicate that some mold may exist.
Roof drains and site drainage does not flow away from the buildings.
A number of trees are in contact with the roofs which can cause damage and result in water intrusion.
The corrugated plastic roofs in several locations are unsafe if stepped on and should be removed and replaced.

The seismic performance of the Craft Center is expected to be poor in a moderate to major earthquake event.  The lack of engineered seismic resistance and especially the poor/lack of support to the foundations can result in buildings moving off their supports and considerable movement within and between the buildings.  This damageability could be significant and the buildings could be a complete loss after a major event.   The life-safety hazard, on the other hand, is not significant because there are no significant falling hazards and the buildings are not expected to collapse.  The Seismic Rating Level is therefore different if “Implied Risk to Life” is compared to “Implied Seismic Damageability”.    For damageability the Rating Level would be a VI as concluded in the Cottrell Report, but for risk to life the Rating Level would be a IV.  This is consistent with the original rating of the buildings in 1988 by Blaylock-Willis and Associates which stated that wood framed buildings “employ a high degree of redundancy and the ability to absorb sudden shock loads” and thus not classified as “requiring more detailed analysis”.  This implied the buildings were “fair” or “good” in the UC life safety Risk Rating system.    My conclusion is that the buildings can be occupied from a seismic risk standpoint, Rating Level IV.

If the Craft Center is to remain permanently on the campus, my recommendation is that the University considers the following:

Demolish and replace the buildings.  This is probably the most cost effective approach to mitigating all the building issues (fire, handicap, seismic, water intrusion, etc.)
Systematically refurbish/retrofit/mitigate all the issues.  This would require removing all the building skin, structural modifications, mechanical and electrical modifications, and  site drainage modifications.  On a square foot basis, this is a very expensive approach.
Keep and refurbish selected portions of the buildings which are considered to have significance and replace the remainder of the complex.

For the interim, if the buildings are to be occupied, I make the following recommendations:

Remove the corrugated plastic roofs.
Replace the glass in the high roof areas or apply a coating that would minimize the falling hazard from the glass.
Repair any localized dry-rot  or damage.
Mitigate site drainage problems.

If you have any questions regarding my comments, conclusions or recommendations, I would be pleased to respond or meet on the campus..


Sincerely,





[bookmark: _GoBack]Gregg E. Brandow, PhD, PE, SE 
Brandow & Nastar, Inc.
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